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Bingham Way between Minteer Street & Lawrence Road 
U.S. Marine Corps Base Hawaii 
Kaneohe, Honolulu County, Hawaii 

U.S. Geological Survey, Mokapu Pt. HI 1998 quadrangle, 7.5 minute 
series Universal Transverse Mercator coordinates: 

Building 455 04.629480.2372120 
Building 1391 04.629410.2372140 

Present Owner: The United States Marine Corps 

Present Occupants: The United States Marine Corps 

Present Use: Family Housing Department, Veterinary Facility (Building 455) 
Vacant (Building 1391) 

Significance: Building 455 and Building 1391 were originally one structure. Building 
455 was constructed as a gunnery school in 1943. The fleet gunnery 
school which occupied Building 455 was organized as a result of the 
Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor of December 7, 1941. It became the 
largest naval gunfire school in the Pacific during World War II and 
trained thousands of Navy gunners. 

Description: Building 455 has been divided into two buildings, Building 455 and 
Building 1391. Both buildings are single-story wood frame construction 
with concrete wall foundations and concrete slab floors. 

Building 455 has a U-shaped footprint with dimensions of about 40'-0" 
wide and 300'-0" long at the base of the U (east section). The south 
wing, which forms one of the arms of the U-shaped plan, is about 40'0" 
wide and about 172'-0" long, and the north wing, which forms the other 
arm, is about 52'-0" wide and 144'-0" Jong. The U shape of the building 
encloses a courtyard with its wings and east section. The building has a 
hipped roof with gable-roofs at the ends of the north and south wings, 
which is where the original square-plan building was severed. It also has 
a gable roof monitor about 5'-0" higher than the main roof which is about 
100'-0" long and centered on the 300' long (east) section. This monitor 
has wood louvers on its sides and louver vents at the eaves. The main 
roof and monitor are covered with asphalt composition shingles. 
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The building is sided with drop siding. It has aluminum frame sliding 
sash windows and jalousie windows. Exterior doors are single and 
double flush wood with transoms which are either louvered or filled with 
a solid panel. Along the east section of the building there is a band of 
screening at the top of the building walls which face the courtyard. At 
the area of this section that corresponds to the monitor, fixed wood 
louvers are on the inside of this screen. At the other portions of this 
section the screen is sealed with plywood on the interior. The south wing 
has a band of plywood on the exterior where this band has been sealed. 

On the courtyard-facing sides of the east and south wings of the building 
is a covered concrete lanai, about 10'-0" wide. The main roof of the 
building extends over this lanai, supported by 4" by 4" wood posts. The 
eaves overhang into the courtyard 3'-6" past the wood posts, which are 
set at the edge of the lanai. The eave overhang at the other sides of 
Building 455 is 4'-0". The building eaves and the section of the roof 
covering the lanai have exposed rafters and tongue and groove roof 
sheathing. 

The interior of Building 455 is divided into offices and work spaces. The 
interior retains some historic material, such as v-joint plywood walls, 
canec ceilings and walls, and concrete floors. Most areas of the building 
have been renovated with gypsum board partitions, acoustic tile ceilings, 
and vinyl composition tile. 

The area of the building that corresponds to the roof monitor is a 
gymnasium with a mezzanine level at its south end which is accessed by 
a built-in wood ladder. The gymnasium measures about 40'-0" wide by 
about 100'-0" long. The approximate 15'-0" high ceiling is made up of l' 
x 2' canec tiles with v-joints. The side walls are fixed wood louver 
panels from the level of the top of the door frames to the ceiling, with 
plywood below the louvers. End walls of the gymnasium are plywood, 
and the floor is covered with vinyl composition tiles with inlaid markings 
for a basketball court. The mezzanine is about 9'-0" wide and runs the 
width of the gymnasium. It has a plywood floor and a railing of 
horizontal two-by-fours. Three flush wood doors lead from the 
gymnasium to rooms beneath the mezzanine. The entry doors to the 
gymnasium are flush wood double doors. 

Building 1391 was originally part of Building 455 and its construction is 
very similar. When the two buildings were one, Building 1391 formed 
the west side of Building 455's original open square plan. It is oriented 
parallel to the east wing of Building 455's U-shaped plan and is 220'-0" 
from the east wing of Building 455. Building 1391 is rectangular, 40'-0" 
wide and 300'-0" long and forms the west boundary of the courtyard 
between it and Building 455. It has the same type of walls, foundation, 
covered lanai which faces the courtyard, windows, and doors as Building 
455. The roof of Building 1391 is hipped and has gable ends at the 
courtyard-facing sides of its north and south ends, where the original 
square-plan building was severed. 
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The monitor on Building 1391 has a gable roof which is 5'-0" above the 
main roof, similar to Building 455. The monitor on Building 1391 is 
longer, at 120'-0", than the monitor on Building 455. The two monitors 
are lined up even at their south ends, but the one on Building 1391 is 20'-
0" longer at its north end than the corresponding monitor at Building 
455, and as a result it is not centered on the building. The monitor on 
Building 1391 does not have louvers as the Building 455 monitor does. 
It is sided with drop siding and its interior space is divided into smaller 
rooms which have standard-height (approx 8'-0") ceilings of suspended 
acoustic tile. Many of these rooms span the 40' width of the building and 
have entrance doors on the courtyard side and on the opposite side. 

The courtyard between the two buildings is planted with a lawn with 
three large trees. It has the remains of the original asphalt-paved 
walkways which extend from the four sides of the courtyard to meet at 
its center. These walkways are about 8' to 1 O' wide and are overgrown 
by the lawn in many areas. The courtyard between the two buildings 
also has areas at the north and west sides which are enclosed by sections 
of chain-link fencing. A small building, 455A, has been constructed in 
the north area between Buildings 455 and 1391 that was removed when 
the buildings were separated. The area at the south which was removed 
is an open concrete slab, the original floor of that section of the building 
and the covered lanai. This slab is painted with markings for a basketball 
court and has a basketball goal and backboard on a post at both its east 
and west ends. 

Building 455 was built in early 1943 as a gunnery school (Bureau of 
Yards and Docks 1945, 1037). The building appears on a 1943 map of 
the Kaneohe Naval Air Station that shows conditions on June 30, 1943 as 
a "completed" building (NAVFAC Archives 1943). Aerial photos from 
the National Archives show that the building was not yet begun on 
October 18, 1942 (NARA College Park 1942), was under construction on 
January 7, 1943 (NARA College Park January 7, 1943), and was roofed 
on March 1, 1943 (NARA College Park March 1, 1943). Original plans 
for the building are dated November 15, 1942 (Naval Facilities 
Engineering Command 1942, drwgs 221108 through 221113). Building 
455 was dedicated during a ceremony in April 1943 (Honolulu 
Advertiser 1943). 

The gunnery school was formed in the days immediately after the 
December 7, 1941 Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor when a patrol wing 
salvaged equipment from destroyed airplanes to use in training. The 
gunnery school was later transferred to Kaneohe Bay Naval Air Station 
and received instructors and equipment from the mainland, such as 
training turrets. The school was eventually expanded to include Building 
455, which was planned and built to provide quarters for the school. The 
school was formally commissioned in April 1943 (Honolulu Advertiser 
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1943). The gunnery school was "the largest naval gunfire school in the 
Pacific" and "one of the important functions of the Naval establishment 
[at Kaneohe Bay NAS]." The school trained "thousands" of Navy 
gunners (Steele 1970, 31 ). 

The original plans show that the building was an open square, 300' on 
each side with a large open center courtyard 220' square. This made the 
four sides of the building each 40'-0" thick, from the exterior wall to the 
courtyard wall. Access to most of the building's rooms was from the 
covered lanai which ringed the courtyard. Rooms at the south east side 
of the building had access doors from the exterior side as well as the 
courtyard side of the building (Naval Facilities Engineering Command 
1943, drwg 221108). The original lecture and motion picture hall at the 
east wing of the building (now the gymnasium) also had entrances from 
the exterior side, which the gymnasium retains. A 20' wide service 
passage was centered on the north side of the building which provided 
access to the courtyard directly from the exterior of the building. This 
passage had a 12' wide road with 2'-0" wide concrete walks on each side. 
At the south side another 10'-0" wide entrance with double doors was 
located about 20' to the west of the center line of the building. A note on 
an original drawing dated March 3, 1943 states "Omit all reinforcing of 
concr. floors" (Naval Facilities Engineering Command 1943, drwg 
221110). 

The large center courtyard of Building 455 originally had a system of 
four asphalt paved walkways, each 12' wide. These extended 
perpendicularly from the paved lanai near the center of each of the side 
wings and met at the center of the courtyard. 

Building 455 was originally divided into about forty-five rooms which 
were designated for various special gunnery school functions: armory, 
turret maintenance, 20mm class room, machine gun class room, trainer 
class room, turret class room, sights class room, and silhouette class 
room. There were also rooms for more standardized functions: offices, 
restrooms, storerooms, and motion picture and lecture halls (Naval 
Facilities Engineering Command 1943, drwg 221108). 

By 1951, the building's listed use had changed to a grade school and 
hobby shop, but it still had the distinctive square footprint with a large 
enclosed courtyard with walkways (NARA San Bruno 1951 ). Building 
455 was shown as a "Community Center" on a May 1967 General 
Development map (Naval Facilities Engineering Command 1967, drwg 
1160152). At this date it retained its original square footprint with 
courtyard and walkways. 

Building 455 has undergone several alterations over the years. Its 
screened openings have been filled with windows. Sometime between 
1967 and 1981 Building 455 was further altered by removing areas at the 
west ends of the north and south sides, which split the building into two, 
Building 1391 and Building 455. At the north side, the portion of the 
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original Building 455 between the service passage and the west side was 
removed. At the south side, the portion of the original building between 
the entrance and the west side was removed. This left Building 455 with 
a U-shaped footprint with dimensions of 300' along the base of the U 
(east side) and arms of the U measuring 144' long (north side) and 172' 
long (south side). The original 300'-0" by 40'-0" west side of Building 
455 remained, separated from the rest of the building by the removed 
portions, and was renamed Building 1391. 

Another alteration widened the north wing of Building 455 from its 
original 40'-0" to about 52'. This was accomplished by moving the 
courtyard side wall of the north wing about 12' south. Building 455A 
was constructed sometime after 1981 between the north wing of Building 
455 and Building 1391. This building is a rectangular single-story 
building with a footprint of 56'-0" by 47'-l ". Building 455A is currently 
vacant. 

ARCHITECTURAL DRAWINGS 

Naval Facilities Engineering Command, Plan Files 
Drawings for Building 455: OA-Nl2-164 dated January 1943, 
5142 dated June 1943, 5143 dated December 1943, 5145 dated 
February 1943, 221108 - 221115 dated November 1942 through 
April 1943, 950641 dated February 1962, 7082935 - 7082938 
dated May 1988, 7082947 dated May 1988. Located at Bldg. 
346, Pearl Harbor Naval Base. 

Drawings for Building 1391: 7040763 dated July 1982, 7040764 
dated July 1982, 7067489 dated May 1986, 7067500 dated May 
1986, 7067501 dated May 1986, 7067589 dated May 1986, 
7069691 dated June 1986, 7069692 dated June 1986, 7069695 
dated June 1986, 7069697 dated June 1986, 7069703 dated June 
1986, 7069704 dated June 1986. Located at Bldg. 346, Pearl 
Harbor Naval Base. 

Map 1160152 "General Development Map Family Housing." 
May 16, 1967. Located at Bldg. 346, Pearl Harbor Naval Base. 
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Date of Report: June 2006. 
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Portion of historic aerial photo dated January 7, 1943 showing Building 455 (arrow) under 
construction. From NARA College Park, 80-CF-7974-28779-14. 
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Portion of historic photo dated October 20, 1953 showing Building 455 (arrows). Note the open 
square plan, courtyard, and raised sections ofroof (monitors). From NARA College Park, photo 
#NYl0-2817 &2818-10-53 in RG-71 CP box 55 folder 1411. 
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Portion oforiginal drawing showing elevations of Building 455, dated November 15, 1942. 
Naval Facilities Engineering Command, drwg 221109. 
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Portion of original drawing showing the open square floor plan of Building 455, dated November 
15, 1942. Naval Facilities Engineering Command, drwg 221108. 
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Portion of alteration drawing showing Building 1391 (left), which has been divided from 
Building 455 (right) at an earlier date. Drawing dated July 14, 1982. Naval Facilities 
Engineering Command, drwg 7040764. 
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